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DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEOSOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors hereby present their report together with the consclidated financial statements of the Group
comprising of DUG Technology Lid (FORMERLY Downlnder GeoSolutions (Australia) Pty Lid) (the
Company), and its subsidiaries for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 and the auditor's report
thereon. The use of the words Company and Group are interchangeable for the purposes of this report and
the financial report.

1 Principal activities

DUG Technology Ltd is a technology Company at the forefront of high-performance computing (HPC), with
a strong foundation in applied physics. We provide innovative hardware and software solutions for the global
technology and resource sectors enabling our clients to leverage vast and complex daia sets ("big data”).

Historically used in the oil and gas sector, technology opportunities are increasingly being found in other
industry sectors such as astrophysics, academia and biomedical research.

2  Corporate changes

At a Shareholder Meeting held on the 6th January 2020, it was resolved 1o (i) terminate the Shareholders
Agreement, (i) adopt a Public Company Constitution and (jii) convert from a Proprietary Limited company
to a Limited company.

On the 12th March 2020, the Shareholders resolved to change the company name from DownUnder
GeoSolutions (Australia) Ltd to DUG Technology Ltd.

3 Directors

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the half year ended 31 December 2019 are as
follows:

Wayne Martin (appointed 1st February 2020) (Non-Executive Chairman)
Frank Sciarrone (Non-Executive)

Charles Ramsden (Non-Executive)

Michaei Malone (appointed 9th June 2020) (Non-Executive)

Mark Puzey (appointed $th June 2020) (Non-Executive)

Matthew Lamont {Executive)

Louise Bower (Executive)

Phil Schwan (appointed 26th February 2020} (Executive)

Troy Thompson (resigned 26th February 2020) (Executive)
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4  Review of operations and results of those operations

The Group recorded a profit before finance expenses and tax for the six month period ended 31 December
2019 of US$ 273,448 (year ended 30 June 2019 — profit of US$ 2,539,777).

The Group recorded a net loss after finance expenses and tax of US$ 2,513,244 for the six month period
ended 31 December 2012 {year ended 30 June 2019 - net loss after tax of US$ 2,633,238).

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS
16 recognised at 1 July 2019. The adoption of this accounting standard is the primary driver for tofal assets
increasing by US$ 11,661,913 and total liabilities increasing by US$ 14,193,493.

5 Significant changes in the state of affairs

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that
occurred during the financial period under review.

6 New Accounting Standards Implemented

The Group has implemented one new Accounting Standard that is applicable for the current reporting period.

IFRS 16: Leases has been applied retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of refained earings at 1 July 2019. Therefore, the
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reporied under AASB 117: Leases.

7 Dividends

No dividends were declared after 31 December 2019 and up to the date of signing this report (year ended 30
June 2019: Nil).

8 Events subsequent to reporting date

At a Shareholder Meeting held on the 6th January 2020, it was resolved to (i) terminate the Shareholders
Agreement, (ii) adopt a Public Company Constitution and (iii) convert from a Proprietary Limited company
to a Limited company.

On the 1% February, Wayne Martin former Western Australian chief justice was appointed as chairman of
the DUG Board. On the 26th 2020 February Troy Thompson resigned from the Board and Phil Schwan was
appointed.

On the 12th March 2020, the Shareholders resolved to change the company name from DownUnder
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GeoSolutions (Australia) Pty Ltd to DUG Technology Ltd.

The Group has taken a decision to list DUG Technology Ltd on the ASX stock exchange fo gain access fo
growth capital. On the 26th February 2020, as part of the IPO process, the Group raised AUS 18.2m in Pre-
IPO funds using a convertible note instrument.

On the 11th March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the Coronavirus or COVID 19 a pandemic.
COVID 192 is a health risk that has global consequences which has significantly affected the world economy.
The strategies adopted by governments in dealing with the virus at an international, domestic and local level
are changing daily and re-assessments by governments and world leaders is ongoing. Various industries
have and wiit continue to be impacted more than others for some time to come.

With respect to the six month financial reporting pericd ended 31 December 2019, the financial statements
have been prepared based upon conditions existing as at that date, with no adjustments made for impacts
of COVID 19.

There is general consensus that the effects of the COVID 19 outhreak are the resuit of an event that arose
after the reporting date, ie it is a non-adjusting event as defined in AASB 110 Events After the Reporting
Pericd, in which case the Group is required fo disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial
effect subsequent to 31 December 2019, if possible to do so.

As the pandemic took hold, government shutdowns caused a 20% decline in oil usage. This in turn caused
a significant slump in oit prices. Historically, DUG has achieved counter cyclical growth amidst oil price
volatility. During these periods, the oil and gas services that the Group provides tend to pivot away from
processing and imaging of newly acquired data fo the reprocessing of legacy data with new technology which
provides an uplift in the quality of the image. For this reason, the impacts of COVID 19 and the slump in oil
prices have not significanily affected the financial position of the Group as at the date of this report nor the
financial results for the period then ended. The Group has noted a marginal softening in revenue atiributed
to the delay in commencement of new services projects and the transition to working from home as a result
of COVID 19. During the first four months of this calendar year, service project awards totalled US$ 12.8m,
contributing to a strong back log of US$ 21.0m at 30th April 2020.

The Group’s cloud based technology and High Performance Compute as a Service offering (HPCaaS8) has
a broad market focus and is expected to lead to significant opportunities in industries not adversely effected
by COVID 19.

DUG has benefited from the receipt of US$1.5m from the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP), introduced
in the USA, to assist businesses retain employees during the pandemic. This loan will be fully forgiven if the
funds are utilised for payroll, insurance premiums, lease and utility payments. It is anticipated that DUG will



DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNRUNDER GEOSOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA} PTY LTD)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

gualify for 100% debt forgiveness.

The COVID 19 pandemic has created unprecedented uncertainty in terms of the overall economic
environment such that economic events and conditions in future may be materially different from those
experienced by the Group as at the date of this report. At this fime, it is not possible for the Group to estimate
the future effects of COVID 19 on its operations as any impact will depend on the magnitude and duration of
any economic downturn, with the full range of possible effects unknown.

On the Sth June 2020, Michael Malone and Mark Puzey were appointed as a non-executive directors.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the
Group in future financial years.

9 Likely developments

information about likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those
operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the information
would he likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

10 Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors

Indemnification

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement
for indemnifying against a liability any person who is or has been an auditor of the Group. Subsequent to 31
Dec 2019, the Directors have entered into a Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access.

Insurance premiums

The Company has paid premiums in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability for the six month period ended
31 December 2019. Such insurance contracts insure against certain liability (subject to specific exclusions)
persons who are or have been directors or executive officers of the Group.

The Directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premiums
paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ liability as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the
contract.
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11 Proceedings on behalf of the Company

DownUnder GeoSolutions Pty Ltd (DUG) and DownUnder GeoSolutions (Asia) Sdn Bhd (DUG Asia) are
defendants to proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia brought by PGS Australia Pty Ltd. Those
proceedings, which were commenced against DUG in December 2018 and to which DUG Asia were joined
in June 2019, involve allegations of patent infringement being made against DUG and DUG Asia in relation
to the processing of seismic data acquired in the course of a number of maritime surveys. DUG and DUG
Asia have challenged the validity of the two patents registered in the name of PGS which are relevant to the
proceedings by way of cross-claim.

Other than the court proceedings outlined above, no person has applied for leave of court to bring
proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for
the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Company was not party to any other proceedings during the six month period ended 31 December 2019,
other than the proceeding described above.

12 Auditor’s independence declaration

The Lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 12 and forms part of the Directors’ report for
the Financial Statements for the six month period ended 31 December 2019.

g
Dated at Perth this th June 2020.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Mark Puzey = / Louise Bower

Non-Executive Director Executive Director
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of DUG Technology Ltd (FORMERLY DownUnder GeoSolutions
(Australia) Pty Ltd) (the Company), the Directors of the Company declare that:

The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 13 to 60, are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 and:

a comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 2 to the financial
statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and

b give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of the performance for the
six month period ended on that date of the consolidated group.

In the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

s
Dated at Perth this th June 2020.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Mark Puzey _~ _ = Louise Bower
Non-Executive Director Executive Director
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Opinion

We have audited the financial report of DUG Technology Ltd (the Company) and Controlled Entities (the
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the 6 month period ended on that date, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’
declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of DUG Technology Ltd is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:

i.  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its
performance for the 6 month period then ended; and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

10

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Moore Stephens - ABN 16 874 357 907. An independent member of Moore Global Network Limited - members in principal cities throughout the
world. The Perth Moore Stephens firm is not a partner or agent of any other Moore Global Network Limited member firm.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to include the economic decisions of the users taken on the basis of this
financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standard Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar3.pdf.  This
description forms part of our audit report.

- M. Sl

SHAUN WILLIAMS MOORE STEPHENS
PARTNER CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Signed at Perth this 15" day of June 2020.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION
307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS
OF DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD

ABN 99 169 944 334

MOORE STEPHENS

Level 15, Exchange Tower,

2 The Esplanade, Perth, WA 6000
PO Box 5785, St Georges Terrace,
WA 6831

T +61(0)8 92255355
F +61(0)8 9225 6181

www.moorestephens.com.au

| declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the 6 month period ended 31 December 2019,

there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001

in relation to the audit, and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

SHAUN WILLIAMS
PARTNER

Signed at Perth this 15" day of June 2020.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Mo, St

MOORE STEPHENS
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Moore Stephens - ABN 16 874 357 907. An independent member of Moore Global Network Limited - members in principal cities throughout the
world. The Perth Moore Stephens firm is not a partner or agent of any other Moore Global Network Limited member firm.
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DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD

(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEQOSOLUTIONS {AUSTRALIA} PTY LTD)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 Decemher 2019

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and cther receivables
Prepayments

Contract assets

Other current assets

Total current assets
Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables
Loans and bormowings
Contract liability

L.ease Liability

Current tax liabilities
Provisions

Total current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Lease Liability

Provisions

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Share capital

Reserves

Retained eamings

Total equity

Equity split as follows:-

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

Note

13
14

15
16

12
18
79
20

21
23
15
23

22

21
23
23
22

24
24

31-Dec

30-Jun

2019 2019
US$ uss
2,064,419 1,987,849
12,958,212 10,253,451
949,896 1,105,219
- 761,012
1,451,526 1,236,240
17,424,053 15,343,771
3,893,841 3,232,039
35,852,335 26,888,879
316,417 375,124
889,404 874,227
40,951,997 31,370,269
58,376,050 46,714,040
4,547,126 6,021,837
1,350,577 2,502,845
589,806 -
1,781,669 -
91,294 23,192
1,704,161 1,634,613
10,064,633 10,182,487
6,048 1,994,699
24,379,547 22,038,334
13,954,110 -
266,707 261,936
38,606,412 24,294,969
48,671,045 34,477,456
3,705,005 12,236,584
5,477,686 5,477,686
(776,904) (1,283,818)
5,004,223 8,042,716
9,705,005 12,236,584
9,676,797 12,253,323
28,208 (16,739)
9,705,005 12,236,584

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements

set out on pages 17 to 60.
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DUG TECHNOLQGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEQSCOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the six month period ended 31 December 2019

6 month period ended 12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019
Note uUs$ Uss$
Sales revenue 7 26,840,300 52,134,877
Income/{Expenses)
Depreciation and amortisation 18&1719 4,815,704) (7,292,515)
Employee benefits 11 {15,956,990) (29,647,580)
Otherincome 9 - 72,821
Other expense g (5,794,158) (12,727,826)
Operating profit 273,448 2,539,777
Finance income 1,519 65,465
Finance expense (1,323,766) (951,192)
Net finance expense 8 (1,322,247) (885,727)
(Loss) / Profit before tax (1,048,799) 1,654,050
Tax expense 12 {1,464,445) (4,287,288)
Loss for the period (2,513,244) (2,633,238)
Attributable fo:
Equity holders of the parent (2,558,191) {2,632,399)
Non-controlling interest 44,947 (839)
Total Comprehensive Loss (2,513,244) (2,633,238)

The consclidated statement of compretensive income is fo be read in conjunction with the notes fo the consolidated financial statements setouton
pages 17 to 60.
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DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEOSOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA)PTY LTD)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the six month period ended 31 December 2019

Share
Share Translation based Retained NPH- Total
tal payment . Total controlling N
capi reserve reserve earnings interests equity
31 -Dec-19 Note uss uss uss Uss uss uss uss
Balance at1 July 2019 5,477,686 {2,177,382) 893,452 8,059,567 12,253,324 {16,738) 12,236,584
(Loss) / Profit for the period - - - (2,558,191) (2,558,181} 44,947 (2,513,244)
Opening bal Adj (for IFRS16) - 112 - (677,681) (677,569) - (677,569)
Opening bal Adj (for Shares) - - (t1,147) - (11,147) - (11,147)
Recognise movements in DTA - - - 152,320 152,320 - 152,320
I"ta' comprehensive {loss)fincome - 112 (11,147) (3.083,552) (3.094,587) 44,947  (3,048,640)
or the period
TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY
HGLDERS
Share based payments recognised 24 - - 518,061 - 518,061 - 518,061
Total fransactions with equity
holders - - 518,061 - 518,061 - 518,061
Balance at 31 December 2019 5,477,686 (2,177,270} 1,400,366 4,976,015 9,676,797 28,208 9,705,005

Share
. based . Non-

Sh?re Translation payment Reta!neci Total controlling To?al

capital reserve reserve earnings interests equity
30-Jun-19 Nofe uss$ uss uss$ uss us$ us$ us$
Balance at 1 July 2018 5,353,963  (2.177,382) 736,570 10,681,966 14,605,117 {15,900} 14,585,217
Loss for the year - - - (2,632,399) (2,632,399) (839) (2,633,238)
I:?rl comprehensive loss for the - - (2,632,399) (2,632,399) 839) (2,633,238)
TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY
HOLDERS
Share issue during the year 24 123,723 - - - 123,723 - 123,723
Share based payments recognised 24 - - 156,882 - 156,882 - 156,882
Total transactions with equity 123,723 - 156,862 - 280,605 - 280,605
holders
Balance at 30 June 2019 5,477,686 (2,177,382) 893,452 8,059,567 12,253,324 (16,739} 12,236,584

The consolidated statement of changes in equily is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consoiidated financial statements setouton
pages 17 to 60.
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DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD

(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEOSOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
For the Six month period ended 31 December 2019

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
L.oss after tax
Adjustments for;
- Depreciation
- Amortisation
- Net finance expense
- Tax expense
- Unrealised foreign exchange loss / (profit)
- Disposal of propetty, plant and equipment loss
- Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
- Research & development grant

Changes in:
- Trade and other receivables
- Prepayments
- Contract assets / liabilities
- Other cumrent assets
- Other assets
- Trade and other payables
- Provisions
Cash generated from operating activities

Tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

CASHFL.LOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of intangible assets

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bormowings

Costs relating to borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Lease payments on capitalised leases

Interest paid

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

6 month period ended

12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019
Us$ Us$
(2,513,244) (2,633,238)
4,719,872 7,017,060
95,832 275,455
1,322,247 885,727
1,464,445 4,287,288
93,101 (72,821)
1,583 5,626
518,061 236,140
(1,551,996) (3,146,152)
4,149,901 6,855,085
(2,704,761) (1,408,403)
155,323 (87,373)
1,350,818 2,042,401
(215,286) (87,857)
(15,178) 1,459
(1,097,271) 1,986,828
74,319 122,944
1,697,865 9,425,083
(506,148) (52,885)
1,191,717 9,372,198
(267,525) (15,858,182)
(37,125) (91,043)
1,519 65,465
1,583 -
(301,548) (15,883,760)
2,383,544 10,155,688
- (284,880)
(1,194,599) (2,415,219)
(678,778) -
(1,323,766) (834,700)
(813,599) 6,620,889
76,569 109,327
1,987,849 1,878,522
2,064,419 1,987,849

The consolidated stafement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes fo the consolidated financial statements sef outon pages 17 lo 60.
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PUG TECHNOLOGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEQSOLUTIONS {AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the six month period ended 31 December 2019

1. REPORTING ENTITY

The consolidated financial statements of DUG Technology Ltd (FORMERLY Downlnder GeoSolutions
{(Australia) Pty Ltd) as at and for the six month period ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred o as the ‘Group’). The Group is comprised of for-profit entities.
The principal activity of the Company during the course of the financial period was the provision of
innovative high-performance computing (HPC) and software solutions for the global technology and
resource sectors to enable clients to leverage vast and complex data sets ("big data”).

Historically used in the oil and gas sector, technology opportunities are increasing being found in other
industry sectors such as astrophysics, academia and biomedical research.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporation Act
2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board
and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board.

The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purpases under Australian Accounting Standards.
Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below
in Note 6 and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

3. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates paras 9 describes the functional currency as
‘the primary economic environment it which an entity operates”. The company's has determined that the
functional currency is US$ as the majority of revenues being transacted are in US$ (Para 9(a)(i) — ‘the
currency that mainly influences sales prices” and that principal sources of finance have been raised in
US$ (Para 10(a) — “the currency in which funds from financing activities”)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the parent entity’s
functional and presentation currency.

4. BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The consolidated financial statements, except for cashflow information, have been prepared on an accrual
basis and are based on historical costs unless otherwise stated in the notes. The amounts presented in
the consolidated financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the current circumstances.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in
any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial information are described in the following notes:

a) Judgements Used in Estimating Revenue Recognised Over time

Services revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Company's progress towards completion of
the contract. The measure of progress is determined based on outputs delivered to or consumed by the
customer.,

Services contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and subsequent
variations to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue recognised will not
occur when any uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resclved.

Whilst there is a degree of estimation and judgement applied by management in determining revenue
recognised, such estimates and judgements applied are not overly critical fo the timing of revenue
recognised in the financial statements.

b) Provision for impairment of receivables

The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires, in some cases, a significant degree of
estimation and judgement. The level of provision is assessed by applying the Expected Credit Loss model
{refer Note 6 (1)) which takes into account forward looking attributes of the individual debtor as well as
historical data such as recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and

specific knowledge of the individual debtor's financial position.
c) Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges
for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation
charge will decrease where the useful lives are greater than previously estimated lives, or technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

The Company pericdically reviews and changes the estimated useful lives of assets with any changes

being treated as a change in accounting estimates and accounted for in a prospective manner.
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dy Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses impairment of non-financial assets at each reporting date by evaluating
conditions specific to the company and to the particular asset that may lead o impairment. If an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value less
costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and
assumptions.

e) Income tax

The Company is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many fransactions and calculations
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the company's current
understanding of the tax law. Where the final {fax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying
amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

f} Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the company considers it
is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

g) Employee benefits provisions

The liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date
are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in
respect of all employees at the reporfing date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates
of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements.

{a) Basis of consolidation
{i} Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent, DUG Technology Lid. The Parent controls an entity
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences unitil the
date on which control ceases.

19



DUG TECHNOLOGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEOSOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the six month period ended 31 December 2019

{iit  Investments in equity-accounted investees

The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the
financial and operating policies.

Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initizlly at cost,
which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, where material, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence ceases.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the
investiment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(iii)  Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees
are eliminated against the investrment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only fo the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

(b) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are transiated to
the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are not translated.

(il Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated to US$ at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of
foreign operations are translated to United States dollars at the approximate average exchange rate for
the month.
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Fareign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
translation reserve.

{¢) Revenue

The Group has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Coniracts with Cusiomers from 1 July 2018, In
accordance with the transition provisions in AASB 15, the Group has applied the cumulative effective
method; that is, by recognising the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 15 as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 July 2018. Therefore, the comparative information has not been restated
and continues to be reported under AASB 118: Revenue.

AASB 15 has not resulted in a material change in accounting policies (highlighted below} in respect of the
periods reported in this section. Therefore, no adjustments were made to the Statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the period ending 30 June 2018 and consequently revenue has
been recognised on a consistent basis for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2019 and for the half year
ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue is recognised when the Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service o the customer, which is when the customer gains control of the good or service. A
performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised

is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

{i) HPCaa$S revenue (high performance compute as a service)

Through the DUG McCloud platform, clients connect to and access DUG's HPC and storage under
a contracted, committed or burst business model.

For these contracts, revenue is recognised at the end of each month based on resource utilization.
Compute is invoiced at an agreed rate per node hour. Storage is based on an agreed rate for
petabytes used.

(i}  Service revenue

The Company provides services to customers by way of contracts.

For these contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Company's progress
towards completion of the contract. The measure of progress is determined based on the proportion
of services delivered to or consumed by the customer {o date compared to the estimated total
services to be delivered under the contract (“output method™).

Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Contract medifications that do not add distinct goods or services are accounted for as a continuation
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of the original contract and the change is as a cumulative adjustment to revenue at the date of
modification.

Variable consideration is typically constrained and only as revenue to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

i} Software revenue

Revenue from the sale of software is predominantly in the form of annual licence fees.

Revenues relating fo non-refundable licence fees are recognised at the point of sale, as licence
agreements provide customers with a right to use the Company’s software products as they exist
at any given time during the licence term.

{iv)  Government grants

Grants from the government are at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs expensed to profit and loss (such as research and
development concessions) are recognised in profit and loss, rather than being recorded as a tax
offset in income tax expense, over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are deducted from the cost of the
asset and are credited to profit and loss over the expected lives of the related assets.

{v) Management fees

The parent Company charges management fees for performing various services on behalf of the
Subsidiaries.

{vi)  Interest income

Revenue is recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

{d) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Provision is made for the Group's obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months aiter the end of the half year reporting period in which the employees render the related service,
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.
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The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are
recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.

(i) Otherlong-term employee benefits

Provision is made for employees’ statutory long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected
to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the half year reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present
value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future paymenits incorporate
anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are
discounted at rates determined by reference fo market yields at the end of the reporting period on
corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the
remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is
recognised in profit or loss as a part of employee benefits expense.

The Group's obligations for long-term statutory employee benefits are presented as non-current
provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the
obligations are presented as current provisions.

(iiy  Defined contribution plans / Pension obligations

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit pians under which the Company pays fixed
contributions into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to
employee services in the current and preceding financial periods. Such contributions are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related service is performed. As required by law, companies in
Australia make such contributions to the Superannuation Fund (SUPER).

{iv)]  Loan funded share plan

The loan funded share plan allows certain employees to acquire shares in DUG Technology Ltd. The
grant date fair value of the shares issued is recognised as an employee share based payment in the profit
and loss with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period during which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the shares. The fair value of the shares granted is measured using a Black-
Scholes pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares were granted.
Employees have been granted a limited recourse ten-year loan to acquire the shares. The ioan has not
been recognised as the Company only has recourse to the value of the shares.
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{e) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. H is recognised in profit and loss except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

{i} Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the pericd
and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previcus periods. It is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

{ii} Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax
is not recognised for:

» temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

s temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the
Group

s temporary differences where that Company is unable to control the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

« temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that

it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

The Company and its wholly owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group. As
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a consequence, all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity
within the tax-consclidated group is DUG Technology Ltd.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST) and value added tax (VAT)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST or VAT, except where the
amount of GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the relevant tax authorities.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST or VAT receivable or payable. The
net amount of GST or VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant tax authorities is included with
other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST or VAT components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the relevant tax authorities, are
presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

{g} Property, plant and equipment

(il  Recognition and meastrement

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost is the fair value of consideration given to acquire the assets at the

time of its acquisition.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain and loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit and loss.

(i} Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

(i)  Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit and loss. Leased assels are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. The HPC pool comprises compute, storage and
data center infrastructure. The leasehold improvement pools is made up of the Group's office fit-out costs.
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The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current periods are as follows:

« Compute and Storage 5 years from 1 July 19 (Previously 3 to 4 years)

o Data Centre Infrastructure 20 years from 1 July 19 (Previously no longer than pericd
of lease)

* Leasehold improvements No longer than period of lease

» Right of use asset No longer than period of Lease

« Office equipment and motor vehicles 3104 years

The impact on the statement of profit or loss for the 6 months ended 31 December 2019, as a result of
the change in useful lives of the HPC pool, had it been applied to all such assets owned as at 1 July 2019,
would have been to increase the net profit before tax by approximately US$ 550,000.

{h) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets

are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment [osses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or infinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be Impaired, The amorilsation perlod and the amortlsation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or methed, as appropriate, which is a change
in accounting estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in
profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

{i} Multi-Client studies

Development costs related to multi-client studies are capitalised as an intangible asset when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how that asset will generate
future economic benefits, the availability of resources fo complete the development and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure atiributable to the intangible asset during its development. Following
the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure
s0 capitalised is amortised over the period of income generated from the related project.

(ii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost. Following initial recognition, other
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intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

The useful lives of other intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or infinite. Other intangible
assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation pericd and the amortisation
method for other intangible assets with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of fulure economic benefits
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate,
which is a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation expense on other intangible assets with finite
lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible
asset.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for impairment
annually when the asset is not yet available for use or more frequently when an indication of impairment
arises during the reporting period.

fiii}  Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated
goodwill, is recognised in profit and loss as incurred.

{ivl  Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values

over the estimated useful life of the asset.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:

e Multi-client studies 5 years

»  Software 2.510 4 years
o  Website 2.5t0 4 years
e Trademarks 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.

(i) Financial instruments
initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
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provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Group commits
itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments {except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active
market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation technigues are adopted.

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain
significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in [FRS 15.63.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement
Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at;
- amortised cost; or

- fair value through profit and loss.

A financial liahility is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:

- a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which /FRS 3: Business
Combinations applies;

- held for trading; or

- initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the
net carrying amount at initial recognition.

A financial liability is held for trading if it is:

- incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term;

- part of a portfolio where there is an actual patiern of short-term profit-taking; or

- aderivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or a
derivative that is in effective hedging relationships).

Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they
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are not part of a desighated hedging relationship.

The change in fair value of the financial liability atiributable to changes in the issuer’s credit risk is taken
to other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified o profit or loss. Instead, it is
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liahility. If taking the change in credit
risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then these gains or
losses are taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income.

A financial liability cannot be reclassified.
Financial Assets

Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
- amortised cost;
- fair value through other comprehensive income; or
- fair value through profit and loss
onh the basis of the ftwo primary criteria, being:
- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and
- the business model for managing the financial assets.

A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost when it meets the following conditions:
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal; and
- interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income when it
meets the following conditions:
- the confractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and
- interest on the principal amount cutstanding on specified dates; and
- the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows
collection and the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the conditions of amortised cost and the fair value

through other comprehensive income’s measurement condition are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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The Group initially designates financial instruments as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to
as “accounting mismatch”} that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases;

- it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy and information
about the groupings was documented appropriately, so the performance of the financial liability that

was part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and evaluated
consistently on a fair value basis; and

- itis a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash

flows otherwise required by the contract.

The initial designation of the financial instruments fo measure at fair value through profit and loss is a one-
time option on initial classification and is irevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

Equity instruments

At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading or not a contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, the Group
did not make an irrevocable election to measure any subseguent changes in fair value of the equity
instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue received on underlying equity
instruments investment will still be recognised in profit or loss.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date
in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.

Derecognition

Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the
statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial fiability for a new one with substantially
modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is treated as an

extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
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paid and payable, including any non-cash assetis transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the
asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.

All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of a financial asset;

- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;

- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

- the Entity no langer controls the asset (i.e. it has no practical ability to make unilateral decisions to
sell the asset to a third party).

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity which the Group elected to classify under fair value through
other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment's

revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred fo retained earnings.

Compound Financial Instruments

Compound financial instruments (such as convertible notes) issued by the Group are classified as either
financial liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the arrangement.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

- financial assets that are measured at amoriised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income;

- lease receivables;

- contract assets (e.g. amount due from customers under construction contracts);

- loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and

- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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Loss allowance is not recognised for:
- financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or
- equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all
cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial

instrument.
The Group uses the simplified approach to impairment, as applicable under IFRS ©.
Simplified approach

The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk in every reporting period, but
instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times.

This approach is applicable to;
- trade receivables; and
- lease receivables.

In measuring the expected credit loss a provision matrix for trade receivables and contract assets (work
in progress) has been used, taking into consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss {i.e.

diversity of its customer base, appropriate groupings of its historical loss experience, etc).

For intergroup loan receivables, the Group recoghises 12 month expected credit losses i.e. the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represent the expected credit losses that result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements

At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain
or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating
to that asset.

Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. An amount in relation to change in credit

risk is transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period.

For financial assets that are unrecognised (e.g. loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees),
a provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss
allowance.
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{iy Finance costs

Finance costs are generally expensed as incurred except where they relate to the financing of assets
regquiring a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended future use.

(k) Trade and other receivables

Receivables which generally have 30 day terms are recognised and carried at original invoice amount
less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.

An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the entity may not be able
io collect the debt. Bad debts are written off as incurred.

(I} Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services
provided fo the Group prior to the end of the financial period that are unpaid and arise when the Group
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

(m) Leases (the Company as a Lessee)

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Company where the
Company is a lessee. However, all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (ie a lease with a
remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
- fixed lease paymenis less any lease incentives;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
ferminate the lease.
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The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned
above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, as well as any initiai direct costs.
The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underying asset, whichever
is the shortest. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset, or the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Company anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

(n) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the of the obligation.

When the Group expects all or some of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtuaily certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a curmrent interest rate
that reflects the risks specific to the liability.

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a
borrowing cost.

(o) Share capital

Ordinary share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Group. Any
transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction

of the share proceeds received.

(p) Determination of fair values

Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction
fo sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market.

For a non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

34



PDUG TECHNOLOGY LTD
(FORMERLY DOWNUNDER GEOSOLUTIONS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the six month period ended 31 December 2018

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses ohservable market data as far
as possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used
in the valuation technique as follows:

l.evel 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company
can access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event
or change in circumstances that caused the transfers,

(q) Impact of the application of new accounting standards

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying
IFRS 16 recognised at 1 July 2019. In accordance with IFRS 16, the comparatives for the 2018 reporting
period have not been restated.

The Group has recognised a lease liability and right-of-use asset for all leases (with the exception of short-
term and low-value leases) recognised as operating leases under AASB 117 Leases where the Group is
the lessee.

The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The Group's
incremental borrowing rate as at 1 July 2019 was used to discount the lease payments.

The right-of-use assets for the [eases were measured and recognised in the statement of financial position
as at 1 July 2019 by taking into consideration the lease liability and prepaid and accrued lease payments
previously recognised as at 1.July 20192 (that are related to the lease).

The following practical expedients have been used by the Group in applying IFRS 16 for the first time:

- for a porifolio of leases that have reasonably similar characteristics, a single discount rate has been
applied;

- leases that have remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 have been
accounted for in the same way as short-term leases;

- the use of hindsight to determine lease terms on confracis that have options to extend or terminate,
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- applying IFRS 16 to leases previously identified as leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4:
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease without reassessing whether they are, or
contain, a lease at the date of initial application;

- not applying IFRS 16 to leases previously nof identified as containing a lease under AASB 117 and
Interpretation 4.

The difference of $3,309,421 between the lease liabilities of $16,279,086 as at 1 July 2019 and the
previously disclosed operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 of $19,588,507 comprises the
effect of discounting as well as low value and short term leases.

(r} Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes
in presentation for the current financial year.

Where the Group retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement ofitems
in the financial statements or reclassifies items in its financial statements, a third statement of financial
position as at the beginning of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial
statement is presented.
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7. SALES REVENUE

6 month period ended

12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

uss uss

HPCaaSs 783,076 1,125,804
Services 19,919,281 40,227,421
Software 4,585,947 7,635,500
Govemment grants 1,551,996 3,146,152
Sales Revenue 26,840,300 52,134,877

8. FINANCEINCOME/{(EXPENSE)

6 month period ended

12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

uUss Uss

Interest income 1,519 65,465
Finance income 1,519 65,465
Interest expense (1,038,776) (834,700)
Debt Arrangement fees {284,990) (116,492)
Finance expense {1,323,766) (951,192}
Finance expense - net (1,322,247) (885,727}

9. OTHERINCOME/(EXPENSE)

6 month period ended

12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

Uss Us$

Unrealised foreign exchange profit - net - 72,821
Other income - 72,821
Sales and marketing (1,171,821) (2,035,261)
Office facilities (631,656) (3,088,697)
Consultants (665,360) (1,236,183)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,583) (5,626)
Realised foreign exchange loss - net {45,276) {10,581)
Unrealised foreign exchange loss - net {93,101) -
IT facilities and related costs {1,254,691) 4,458,238)
Other {1,930,670) (1,893,180)
Other expense (5,794,158) (12,727,826)

The reduction in facilities costs in the six month period to 31 Dec 2019 reflects the adoption of IFRS 16.
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10. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

31 Dec 2019
Uss$
Audit and review services
Auditors of the Group — Moore Stephens
Audit and review of financial statements 85,583

6 month period ended

12 month year ended
30 Jun 2019
Uss

135,128

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

6 month period ended

12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

uss uss

Salaries and fees 12,740,135 24,320,063
Superannuation 932,375 1,846,503
Payroll tax 769,445 1,479,764
Other benefits 996,974 1,765,110
Share based payments 518,061 236,140
15,956,990 29,647,580

12. INCOME TAXES

{a) Amounts recognised in consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income

6 month period ended

12 month year ended

31 Pec 2019 30 Jun 2019
uss US$ (Note 2)

The components of tax expense/(benefit) comprise:
Cuent tax expense 1,665,617 4,820,864
Deferred Tax expense (201,172) (609,254)
Under/Over provision in respect of prior years - 75,678
Income Tax expense 1,464,445 4,287,288
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{b) Numerical reconciliation of tax expense

6 month period 12 month year
31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019
uss US$ (Note 2)

Profit/(loss) before tax {1,048,799) 1,654,050
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate of 30% (314,640) 496,215
Add/(Less) the tax effect of;
- Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 116,469 807,299
- Change in tax rates 3,170 55,721
- Non-assessable income
- Research and development Tax [ncentive (465,599) (943,845)
- Pioneer status income not subject o tax (392,939) (747,401)
- Other Non-assessable income (10,118) -
- Other allowable items (46,782) (124,260)
- Nan-allowable items
- Other non-deductible expenses 46,453 556,176
- Research and Development expenditure 1,332,846 2,450,965
- Losses and other defemed tax items not recognised 901,942 1,780,175
- Under/Over provision in respect of prior years - {76,233)
- Recgupment of priot year tax losses not (4.135) )
previously brought to account
- Withholding tax 290,756 32,476
Income tax attributable to entity 1,464,445 4,287,288

DownUnder Geosolutions (America) LLC, has carried forward tax losses of US$ 37,532,751 (June 30, 2019
- US$35,604,661) available for future use. These tax losses have arisen due to the investment in data
center infrastructure and compute and favourable capital allowances in this jurisdiction.

{c}) Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of financial position

6 month period 12 month year
31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

uss Uss$
Neti deferred tax assets 3,893,841 3,232,038
Net deferred tax assets 3,893,841 3,232,039
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(d) Movement in temporary differences during the six month period ended 31 December 2019:

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assets
Leases
Trade and other payables
Provisions
OCther curmrent assets
Cany forward revenue losses/tax offsets

Balance

Recognised in

Balance

Camry forward revenue [osses and other
deferred tax items not recognised

1 Jul 2019 income 31 Dec 2019
LUS$ (Note 2) Uss Us$
(3,023,460) 427,137 (2,596,323)
{64,568) 13,002 51,566)
4,549 {36,645) (32,096)

- 542,250 542,250

131,580 (8,050) 123,530
568,965 27,950 596,915
234,602 12,418 247,020
5,380,372 (316,261) 5,064,111
3,232,039 661,802 3,893,841
4,130,548 1,029,468 5,160,017

(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year ended 30 June 2019:

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents
Deferred tax assets
Borrowings
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Other current assets
Carry forward revenue losses/tax offsets

Recognised in

Carmy forward revenue losses and other
deferred tax items not recognised

Balance Balance

1 Jul 2018 Income 30 Jun 2019
US$ (Note 2) uss US$ (Note 2)
{970,792) {2,052,668) (3,023,480)
(20,295) (44,273) (64,568)
27,057 (27,057) -
1,152 3,397 4,549
79,935 51,645 131,580
532,082 36,883 568,965
210,820 23,782 234,602
4,314 427 1,065,945 5,380,372
4,174,386 (942,348) 3,232,039
1,891,978 2,238,570 4,130,548
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Note 1 - Corporate tax rate

The corporate tax rate for eligible companies will reduce from 30% o 25% by 30 June 2022 providing

certain turnover thresholds and other criteria are met. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to be

measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply in the future income year when the asset is realised or

the liability is settled. The Directors have determined that the deferred tax balances be measured at the tax

rates stated.

Note 2 — Comparatives

The June 2019 comparative figures for income tax note have been reinstated to be consistent with the

December 2019 year presentation format. The overall reported tax position has not changed.

13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand

Cash at bank and on hand

Bank overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
cashflows

31-Dec 30-Jun
2019 2019

UsSs uss$
2,583,467 2,409,982
2,583,467 2,409,982
{519,048) (422,133)
2,084,419 1,987,849

A secured bank overdraft facility of AUD$1,000,000 {Dec 2019 available AUD$ 324,304; Jun 2019
available AUD$460,662) is in piace, with an applicable floating charge rate based on an overdraft

index rate plus a margin.

14, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current asset
Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

31-Dec

36-Jun

Trade receivables - net
Indirect taxes receivable
Other receivables

Current trade and other receivables

2019 2019

uss Uss$
12,273,085 10,103,809
12,273,085 10,103,809
- 127,209

685,127 22,433
12,958,212 10,253,451

Credit terms for trade receivables average 30 days
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a. Expected Credit Loss Lifetime Credit: Impaired

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group
of counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 26. The
main source of credit risk to the Group is considered to relate to the class of assets described as "trade and
other receivables" which at the end of 31 Dec 2019 is NIL (30 Jun 2012 — NIL).

The table below details the Group’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk {prior to collateral
and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are
considered as "past due" when the debt has not been setlled within the terms and conditions agreed
between the Group and the customer or counterparty to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are
assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are

spegcific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Group.

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms {(as detailed in the table below) are
considered to be of high credit quality.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by AASB 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2019 is determined as follows.

The expected credit losses below also incorporate forward-looking information.

Current 31-60days 61 -90Days > 90 days due

Total

31-Dec-19

uss uss uss uss uss
Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Gross carrying amount 6,362,873 2,983,082 822,856 2,789,401 12,958,212

Loss allowing provision - - - -

Current 31 -60 days 61 -90 Days > 90 days due

Total

30-Jun-19

uss uss Uss uss uss$
Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Gross camying amount 6,800,841 1,326,622 1,429,558 696,431 10,253,451

Loss allowing provision - - - -
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b. Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

31-Dec

30-Jun

2019 2019
uss Uss
Trade and ather receivables
- total current 12,958,212 10,253,451
-total non-current ~ -
i ified |
Total financial assets classified as loans and 12,958,212 10,253 451

other receivables

c. Collateral Pledged

There is a fixed charge on all freehold, leasehold, book debts and other assets of the Group, in respect of

a financing facilities referred to in Note 23.

15. CONTRACT ASSETS / LIABILITIES

31-Dec

30-Jun

2019 2019

us$ uss

Contract (Liabilities) / Assets relating to contracts (589,806) 761,012
Loss allowance - -
(589.806) 761,012

Current (1,083,586) 366,353
Non-current 493.780 394 659
(589,806) 761,012

Contract liabilities relate to projects where the Group has invoiced the client in advance of progress towards

project completion. When invoicing takes place, any amount that has previously been classified as a

contract liability will be reclassified to trade receivables.

Contract assets are in relation to projects where the Group has progressed the project towards completion

but contractually is not entitled fo invoice the client.
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Impairment of contract assets

The Group applied the expected credit loss module based on lifetime expected loss allowance for contract
assets.

Based on the above, the loss allowance was determined as follows:

Current > 30 days due > 60 days due > 90 days due Total

31-Dec-19

uss$ uss uss uss uss
Contract liabilities (1,083,5886) 1,458 8] 492,321 (589,8086)
Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Loss allowing provision - - - - -

Current > 30 days due > 60 days due > 90 days due Total

30-Jun-19
Us$ uss uUss$ Uss uss
Contract assets 366,353 87,913 0 306,745 761,012
Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Loss allowing provision - - - - -

16. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019

US$ uss$

Bonds and security deposits 1,451,526 1,236,240
1,451,526 1,236,240

17. INTERESTS HELD IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has interests in the following associates

2019 2019

Rouge Rock Pty Lid 49% 49%
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DUG has a 49% interest in Rouge Rock Pty Ltd. Rouge Rock was incorporated in 2016 and non-executive
director, Charles Ramsden holds the remaining interest. Rouge Rock was formed for the purposes of
earning participation rights in exploration petroleum permits. DUG considers its interest in Rouge Rock to
be a non-core asset.

18. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Office

ight of Use  Equi
HPC iml;:er:: :1‘:::{5 ngAsset qa l:zml':g:;nd coan;rt‘:.:::rﬁcn Total
Vehicles
us$ uss Uss$ Uss Us$ Uss
Cost
Batance at 1 July 2018 37,783,172 4,915,774 n 1,691,995 74,399 44,465,340
Additions 14,005,469 7,568 - 1,783 1,843,362 15,858,182
Assets recommissioned 157,897 - - - - 157,887
Reclassification 13,201 - - - (13,201) -
Disposals (383,504} - - {2,376) - {385,880)
Balance at 30 June 2019 51,676,235 4,923,342 - 1,691,402 1,904,560 60,095,539
Balznce at 1 July 2019 51,576,235 4,923,342 - 1,691,402 1,804,560 60,085,539
Additions 249,344 817 17,034,740 8,077 9,287 17,302,265
Reclassification - 117,950 - 77173 {195,123) -
Disposals (20,041) - - - (3,350) {23,391)
Balance at 31 December 2019 51,805,538 5,042,109 17,034,740 1,776,652 1,715,374 77,374,413
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 July 2018 24,171,829 1,203,008 - 1,029,640 - 26,404,477
Depreciation 6,117,299 566,145 - 333,616 - 7.017,060
Assels recommissioned 157,897 - - - - 157,897
Reclassification 5,820 - - - . 5,820
Disposais (376,219} - - {2,376) - {378,595)
Balance at 30 June 2019 30,076,626 1,769,153 - 1,360,880 - 33,206,658
Balance at 1 July 2019 30,076,626 1,769,153 - 1,360,880 - 33,206,658
Leased Assets - - 3,613,252 - - 3,613,252
Depreciation 3,362,171 290,242 931,086 136,372 - 4,719,872
Disposals {17,705) - - - - (17,705)
Balance at 31 December 2019 33,421,092 2,059,395 4,544,338 1,497,252 - 41,522 077
Carrying amounts
At 30 June 2019 21,499,609 3,154,189 - 330,522 1,804,560 26,888,881
At 31 December 2019 18,384,446 2,982,714 12,490,402 278,400 1,715,374 35,852,335

Right of Use Asseis

The Group's lease portfolio includes buildings. These leases have an average of 10 years as their lease
term.
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Options to Extend

The option to extend is contained in the property leases of the Group. These clauses provide the Group
opportunities to manage leases in order to align with its strategies. All of the extension options are only
exercisable by the Group. The extension options which were probable to be exercised have been included
in the calculation of the right-of-use asset.

IFRS 16 related amounts recognised in the balance sheet;

31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019
uss$ uUss
Right-of-use assets:
l.eased buildings 17,034,740 -
Accumulated depreciation (4,544,338) -
Total right-of-use asset 12,480,402 -
Movement in carrying amounts:
Leased buildings:
Recognised on Initial application of IFRS 16 13,421,488 -
Depreciation expense (831,086) -
12,480,402 -

IFRS 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss:

& month period ended 12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

Uss$ uss
Depreciation charge related to right-of-use assets 931,086 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities 400,745 -
Short term and low value asset lease expense 99,216 -

Total cash outflow for leases:

6 month period ended 12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019
uss Uss
Total cash outflow for leases 1,084,339 -
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Multi-Client Patents and

studies Website Software Trade marks Total
uss uss UER uss uss

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2018 2,295,002 5192 1,126,420 350,236 3,776,850
Acquisitions - 19,707 - 71,336 91,043
Disposals - {5,192) - - (5,192)
Balance at 30 June 2018 2,285,002 19,707 1,126,420 421,571 3,862,701
Balance at 1 July 2019 2,295,002 19,707 1,126,420 421,571 3,862,701
Acquisitions - - - 37,125 37,125
Balance at 31 December 2019 2,295,002 19,707 1,126,420 458,697 3,899,826
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 July 2018 2,295,002 5,192 830,494 86,625 3,217,314
Amortisation “ 2,701 221,654 51,100 275,455
Disposals - (5,192} - - (5,182}
Balance at 30 June 2019 2,295,002 2,701 1,052,149 137,725 3,487 577
Balance at 1 July 2019 2,295,002 2,701 1,052,149 137,725 3,487,577
Amoriisation - 2,463 73,103 20,266 95,832
Balance at 31 December 2019 2,295,002 5,164 1,125,252 157,991 3,583,409
Carrying amounts
AT 30 June 2019 - 17,006 74,271 283,847 375,124
At 31 Becember 2019 n 14,543 1,168 300,706 316,417

The Group generates a revenue stream from multi-client studies, which are available for sale. Development
costs of the multi-client assets to-date have been capitalised and have been amortised over a period of 5
years.

20. OTHER ASSETS

31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019

uss Uss$

Leans 889,404 874,227
889,404 874,227

Unsecured, interest bearing loan provided to Executive Director, Phil Schwan. The loan matures on 301
June 2022. Should the loan not be repaid in full by this date, the loan is subject fo an agreed repayment
schedule.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019
us$ Uss
Current liabilities
Trade payables 3,111,811 4,542 797
Accruals 656,586 887,102
Other 637,062 591,938
Premium funding 141,668 -
Current trade and other payables 4,547,126 6,021,837
Non-current liabilities
Indirect taxes payables 6,048 -
Deferred rent - 1,994,699
Non-current tfrade and other payables 6,048 1,994,699

The normal trade credit terms granted by trade creditors to the Company are 30 days.

22. PROVISIONS

31-Dec

30-Jun

2019 2019
uss uUs$
Current liability
Provision for annual leave 1,108,712 1,164,636
Provision for long service leave 595,449 469,977
1,704,161 1,634,613
Non-current liability
Provision for long service leave 266,707 261,936
266,707 261,936
Reconciliation of movements in provisions:
Provision for annual leave
Balance at beginning of year 1,164,636 1,168,310
Provision movement during the financial year (55,924) (3,674)
Balance atyear end 1,108,712 1,164,636
Provision for long service leave
Balance at beginning of year 731,913 605,295
Provision movement during the financial year 130,243 126,618
Balance at year end 862,156 731,913
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23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Bank Lease Promissory

31-Dec-12 lean Liabiity Note Total
uss$ Us$ uss$ uss

Carrying Value 24,166,789 15,735,779 1,563,335 41,465,903
Current - 1,781,669 1,350,577 3,132,246
Non-current 24,166,789 13,954,110 212,758 38,333,657
24,166,789 15,735,779 1,563,335 41,465,903

Bank Lease Promissory

30-Jun-19 loan Liabiity Note Total
Us$ Uss$ uss$ Us$

Carrying Value 21,682,517 - 2,858,662 24 541,179
Current - - 2,502,845 2,502,845
Non-current 21,682,517 - 355,817 22,038,324
21,682,517 - 2,858,662 24,541,179

(i} The following facilities are currently in place:
(a) Revolving facility of US$7,000,000 (2019 — US$7,000,000):

This facility is comprised of two sub facilities covering growth capex and working capital purposes.
Interest is calculated as LIBOR plus a margin.

(b) Term debt facilities of US$17,805,000 (2019 - US$17,805,000):

These facilities are key refinancing facilities comprised of three term debt components. Interest is

calculated as LLIBOR plus a margin.

The Group has provided the following security in relation to the bank facilities:
)] A first ranking general security to CBA (Commonwealth Bank of Australia} over all present

and future rights, property and undertakings;

(iiy General security deed and working capital guarantee recourse deed with EFIC (Export
Finance Insurance Corporation) in Australia to partially guarantee facilities provided by CBA.

(i} There is a fixed charge on all freehold, leasehold, book debts and other assets of the Group,
in respect of a bank loan drawdown. The bank also has a floating charge over all the assets

of the Group.
Covenants are imposed by the bank on a quarterly basis and include:

{a) A netleverage ratio based on financial indebtedness less cash reserves divided by Group EBITDA;
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and

{b) A debt service coverage ratic of after debt cashflows as a proportion of debt servicing

The weighted average effective interest rate on the bank loans is 5.30% per annum (June 30 2019:

5.53%).

{ii) Promissory notes are payable to Wells Fargo Equipment Finance Inc and G Tower Sdn Bhd. The Wells

Fargo debt is secured by compute reported in the US subsidiary, DownUnder GeoSolutions (America)

LLC. Intel Corporation provided a guarantee to Wells Fargo through a recourse agreement. The Loan
from G Tower relates to funding of data center fitout in DownUnder GeoSolutions (Asia) Sdn Bhd. The
carrying value of promissory notes is shown net of deferred finance charges of US$85,688 (June 30

2019 -US$130,792).
24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Share Capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares. The holders of these shares are entitled to receive dividends as

declared from time to time.

Fully paid up shares

Balance at beginning of period
Issued and fully paid shares
Balance at end of period

Issued under loan funded share plan
Balance at beginning of period
Vesting conditions not met

Issued during the period

Balance at end of period

Performance Shares
Balance at beginning of period

Performance Shares issued for services
Balance at end of period

Total shares issued

31-Dec-19

30-Jun-19

No. uss No. Uss
54,394,769 5,477,686 54,310,877 5,353,863
- - 83,8092 123,723
54,394,769 5,477,686 54,394,769 5,477,686
8,960,059 - 8,239,465 -
(384,455) - (51,316) .
- - 771,910 -
8,575,604 - 8,960,059 -
375,000 - - -
375,000 - - -
63,345,373 5,477,686 63,354,828 5,477,686

a) No fully paid ordinary shares were issued to the non-executive Directors for services rendered during
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the six manth period ended 31% December 2019 {(FY19 30,150 shares were issued).

b) A total of 375,000 fully paid performance shares were fssued to a key technology advisor during the
six month period ended 31% December 2019 (FY19 53,742 fully paid shares were issued to new
employees.)

c) The Company invites key employees to acquire shares in DUG Technology Ltd under a Loan Funded
Share Plan. During the period no shares were offered (FY19 771,910). The shares are granted at
market value with the assistance of a limited recourse loan for a term of ten years. Any dividends
payable in respect of these shares are repayable against the loan, until the loan is fully repaid. The
balance of the limited recourse loan at 31 December 2019 is US§$ 7,437,784 (FY19 US$ 7,9086,517)

d) During the period, all shares, issued under the 2016 loan funded share plan, did not achieved the
vesting conditions, resulting in the cancellation of 384,455 shares. (FY19 - 97% of shares under the
2015 loan funded share plan met the vesting conditions, resulting in the cancellation of 51,316
shares).

e) The fair value of the shares granted under the loan funded share plan are measured using the Black-
Scholes method. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price
volatility. A probability of 90% has been applied to the valuation of all unvested shares as at 31
December 2019, reflecting the liquidity event which could be triggered by the Company's intention of
listing.

{(b) Reserves

31-Dec 30-Jun
2019 2019
uss uss

Share based paymenis reserve 1,400,368 893,452

Translation reserve (2177.270) {2,177.382)

(776.904) (1,283,930}

Reconciliation of movementin reserves:

Share based payments reserve

Balance at beginning of pericd 893,452 736,570

Opening Balance Adjustment (11,147) -

Utilisation of dividend fo repay loan funded share plan debt - -

Share based expense payments recognised 518,061 156,882

Options excercised z -

Balance at end of period _ 1,400,366 893,452
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31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019
Us$ Uss
Translation reserve
Balance at beginning of pericd (2,177,382} (2,177,382}
Opening balance adjustment 112 -
Change in control of subsidiary - -
Effect of translation of foreign cumrency operations to Group - -
Balance at end of period (2,177,270) (2,177,382)

(1)  The share hased payment reserve comprises expenses incurred from the issue of Company's
shares under the employee loan funded share plan.

(2)  The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Group where the functional currencies are different to the presentation
currency for reporting purposes, including the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net
investment in a foreign subsidiary.

25, DIVIDENDS PAID

2018 2018
Uss$ uss

Distributions paid:
Declared and paid unfranked ordinary dividend - -

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ~ FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

{a)  Financial risk management

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, accounts
receivable and payable, loans and leases.

The total for each category of the financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial
Instruments, as defailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:
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31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019
uss Uss
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,064,419 1,987,849
Trade and other receivables 12,958 212 10,253 451
15,022.631 12,241,300
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost;
Trade and other payables (4,547,126) (6,021,837)
Lease Liability (15,735,779) -
Loans and borrowings (26,730,124} {(24.541.179)
{46,013,029) (30,563,016)

(b) Financial risk management policies

The Directors’ overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Company in meeting its financial
targets, while minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management is reviewed
by the Board of Directors (the Board) on a regular basis. This includes the credit risk and future cash flow
requirements.

The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for company operations. The
Company does not have any derivative instruments at 31 December 2019. (FY19 — none)

Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include
credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

{c} Specific financial risk exposures and management

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and
market risk relating to interest rate risk and anocther price risk. There have been no substantive changes in
the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these risks arise, or the Board's objectives, policies and
processes for managing or measuring the risks from the previous period.

{0 Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures ensuring, to the extent possible, that customers
and counterparties fo fransactions are of sound credit worthiness, granting and renewal of credit limits, the
regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and the monitoring of the financial stability of significant
customers and counterparties. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Credit
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terms are generally 30 days from the date of invoice.

Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds into financial institutions that maintain a high credit
rating.

The Group trades with recognised, creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis, with the result that the Group's bad debt exposure is not significant.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of

counterparties.

Carrying Past due and

Current 31-60 days 61-90 days »90 days  Within trade

amount impaired terms

31Dec-19
uss$ uss uss$ us$ us$ uss uss
Trade and {erm receivables 12,273,085 - 5,677,746 2,983,082 822,856 2,789,401 o]
Other receivables 585,127 - - - - - 685,127
12,958,212 - 5,677,746 2,983,082 822,856 2,789,401 685,127

Carrying Past due and

. . < 30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days »>90 days  Within trade
amount impaired

terms

30-Jun-19
uss Usé Uss uss$ uss uss uss
Trade and term receivables 10,103,809 - 3,726,151 1,326,622 1,429,558 696,431 2,925,047
Other receivables 149,642 - - - - - 148,642
10,253,451 - 3,726,151 1,326,622 1,429,558 696,431 3,074,690

(i) Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or

otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the

following mechanisms:

» preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing
activities;

s monitoring undrawn credit facilities;

s obtaining funding from a variety of sources;

s maintaining a reputable credit profile;

 managing credit risk related to financial assets;

s only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and

» comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets.

The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities.
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Bank overdrafts have been deducted in the analysis as management does not consider that there is any

material risk that the bank will terminate such facilities.

Carrying Contractual 6 months or More than 5

amount  cash outflows less 6-12 months 12 years 25 years years
31-Dec-19

uss$ uss uss us$ uss$ uss$ uss

Bank loans 24,166,789 24,166,789 - - 17,796,236 6,370,553 .
Lease Liability 15,735,779 15,735,779 848,103 933,566 1,948,784 7,947,012 4,058,314

Promissory note 1,563,335 1,563,335 1,346,136 146,109 71,001 -

Trade and other payables 4,547,128 4,547,126 4,547,126 - - - -
46,013,030 46,013,030 6,741,365 1,079,675 19,816,110 14,317,565 4,058,314

Carrying Contractual 6 months or More than 5

amount cash outflows less 6-12 months 1-2 years 25 years years
30-Jun-19
Uss uss Uss$ uss uUss uss Uss
Bank loans 21,682,517 21,682,517 - - - 21,682,517 -
Promissory note 2,858,662 2,858,662 1,297,078 1,205,768 192,783 163,034 -
Trade and other payables 5,021,837 6,021,837 6,021,836 - . - «
30,563,016 30,563,016 7,318,913 1,205,768 192,783 21,845,551 -

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management's expectation as to the timing of realisation.
Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timings of cash flows presented in the table to
seftle financial liabilities reflect the earliest contractual settlement dates and do not reflect management's

expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

Financial assets pledged as collateral

Certain financial assets have been pledged as security for debt and their realisation into cash may be
restricted subject to terms and conditions attached fo the relevant debt contracts (refer to Note 23 for further

details).

(i} Market risk
Interest rate risk

Exposure fo inferest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the
reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of
fixed rate financial instruments. The Group is also exposed o earnings volatility on floating rate
instruments. The financial instruments that expose the Group to interest rate risk are limited to borrowings,
and cash and cash equivalents.

The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Group's exposures to changes in interest rates. The table
indicates the impact on how profit and equity values reported at the end of the reporting period would have
been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that management considers 1o be reasonably
possible.
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. 31~Dec . 30-Jun

2019 2019
Uss$ Uss

Impact on profit
2% increase in interest rates (240,314} (307,214)
2% decrease in interest rates 240,314 307,214

There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity analysis from
the prior year.

The Group also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid within
any pre-agreed credit terms.

(d) Capital management

Management effectively manages the Group's capital by assessing the Group's financial risks and adjusting
its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the
management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issued.

Management controls the capital of the Company in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, provide
the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as
a going concern.

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management fo manage the capital of the
Company.

27. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

The total of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group during the year is as follows:

6 month period ended 12 month year ended

31 Dec 2019 30 Jun 2019

Uss$ Us$

Short-term employee benefits 451,321 1,042,196
Other long term benefits 26,687 55,779
Share-based Payments - 53,237
Total KMP Compensation 478,008 1,151,212

No remuneration was paid by the parent entity to key management personnel.

There are no other key management compensation transactions for the half year ended 31 December 2019
or 30 June 2018.
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group's main related parties are as follows:

a) Entities exercising control over the Group
The ultimate Parent Entity, which exercises control over the Group, is DUG Technology Lid.
b) Key management personnel

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director {whether execufive or otherwise) of that entity, is
considered key management personnel. Phil Schwan, an Executive Director of, DUG Technology Lid, has
an existing lean from the Company. The balance as at 31 Dec 2019 is U33$889,404 (30 Jun 2019
US$874,227). Charles Ramsden, a Non-Executive Director of, DUG Technology Lid is the Managing
Director and a shareholder of Rouge Rock Pty Lid.

For other details of disclosures relating fo key management personnel, refer o Note 27.
c) Entities subject to significant influence by the Group

An entity that has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but
does not have control over those policies, is an entity that holds significant influence. Significant influence
may be gained by share ownership, statute or agreement.

Rouge Rock Pty Ltd is an entity over which the Group exercises significant influence by holding 49% voting
power,

For details of interests held in associates, refer to Note 17.

29. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

coln e " Ownership interest
Country of 31-Dec 30-Jun

Name of entity incorporation 2019 2019
Ya Y

Parent entity:

DUG Technology Ltd Australia

Subsidiaries:

Downlnder GeoSolutions Pty Lid Australia 100% 100%

DownUnder GeoSolutions (UK) Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%

DownUnder GeoSolutions (London) Pty Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100%

DownUnder GeoSolutions (America) LLC USA 100% 100%

DownUnder GeoSolutions (Asia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100% 100%

DownUnder GeoSolutions {Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 49% 49%
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30. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

As at, and throughout, the six month period ended 31 December 2019 the parent entity of the Group was
DUG Technology Ltd (formerly DownUnder GeoSolutions (Australia) Pty Ltd.)

31-Dec 30-Jun

2019 2019
Uss uss

Results of parent entity:
Loss for the period (642,073) (289,656)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) - -
Total comprehensive expense for the period {642,073) (289,656)
Financial position of parent entity
Cument assets 2,200 2,188
Total assets 4,126,818 4,165,605
Cument liabilities 116,843 31,619
Total liabilities 116,843 31,619
Total equity of parent entity comprising of:
Share capital 5,477,686 5,477,686
Reserves (175,002) (186,627)
Retained eamings (1,799,1486) (1,157,073}
Total equity 3,503,538 4,133,986

(a) Parent entity contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities of the parent entity as at 31 December 2019 and as at 30 June 2019.

(b) Parent entity capifal commitments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment

There were no capital commitments of the parent entity as at 31 December 2019 and as at 30 June 2019.

31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group does not subsequently measure any liabilittes at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets

or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019 (30 June 2019: No Changes) were as follows:

DownlUnder GeoSolutions Pty Ltd {DUG) and DownUnder GeoSolutions (Asia) Sdn Bhd (DUG Asia) are
defendants to proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia brought by PGS Australia Pty Ltd. Those
praceedings, which were commenced against DUG in December 2018 and to which DUG Asia were joined
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in June 2019, involve allegations of patent infringement being made against DUG and DUG Asia in relation
to the processing of seismic data acquired in the course of a number of maritime surveys. DUG and DUG
Asia deny the allegations of infringement that have been made and are challenging the validity of the two
patents registered in the name of PGS which are relevant to the proceedings by way of cross-claim. Liability
estimated at nil, contingent liability only. The claim is currently for an unliguidated amount.

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

At a Shareholder Meeting held on the 6th January 2020, it was resolved to (i) terminate the Shareholders
Agreement, (ii} adopt a Public Company Constitution and (i} convert from a Propriefary Limited company
to a Limited company.

On the 1% February, Wayne Martin former Western Australian chief justice was appointed as chairman
of the DUG Board. On the 26" February Troy Thompson resigned from the Board and Phil Schwan was
appointed.

On the 12th March 2020, the Shareholders resolved to change the company name from DownUnder
GeoSolutions (Australia) Pty Ltd to DUG Technology Lid.

The Group has taken a decision te list DUG Technology Ltd on the ASX stock exchange to gain access
to growth capital. On the 26th February 2020, as part of the IPO process, the Group raised AU$ 18.2m in
Pre-IPO funds using a convertible note instrument.

On the 11ih March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the Coronavirus or COVID 19 a
pandemic. COVID 19 is a health risk that has global consequences which has significantly affected the
world economy. The strategies adopted by governments in dealing with the virus at an international,
domestic and local level are changing daily and re-assessments by governments and world leaders is
ongoing. Various industries have and will continue to be impacted more than others for some time to
come.

With respect to the six month financial reporting period ended 31 December 2019, the financial statements
have been prepared based upon conditions existing as at that date, with no adjustments made for impacts
of COVID 18.

There is general consensus that the effects of the COVID 19 outbreak are the result of an event that arose
after the reporting date, i.e. it is a non-adjusting event as defined in AASB 110 Events After the Reporting
Period, in which case the Group is required to disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its

financial effect subsequent to 31 December 20189, if possible to do so.

As the pandemic took hold, government shutdowns caused a 20% decline in oil usage. This in turn caused
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a significant slump in oil prices. Historically, DUG has achieved counter cyclical growth amidst oil price
volatility. During these periods, the oil and gas services that the Group provides tend to pivot away from
processing and imaging of newly acquired data to the reprocessing of legacy data with new technology
which provides an uplift in the guality of the image. For this reason, the impacts of COVID 19 and the
slump in oil prices have not significantly affected the financial position of the Group as at the date of this
report nor the financial results for the period then ended. The Group has noted a marginal softening in
revenue attributed o the delay in commencement of new services projects and the transition to working
from home as a result of COVID 19. During the first four months of this calendar year, service project
awards totalled US$ 12.8m, contributing to a strong back log of US$ 21.0m at 30th April 2020.The Group’s
cloud based technology and High Performance Compute as a Service offering {(HPCaaS) has a broad
market focus and is expected 1o lead to significant opportunities in industries not adversely effected by
COVID 18.

DUG has benefited from the receipt of US$1.5m from the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP), introduced
in the USA, to assist businesses retain employees during the pandemic. This loan will be fully forgiven if
the funds are utilised for payroll, insurance premiums, lease and utility payments. It is anticipated that
DUG will qualify for 100% debt forgiveness.

The COVID 19 pandemic has created unprecedented uncertainty in terms of the overall economic
environment such that economic events and conditions in future may be materially different from those
experienced by the Group as at the date of this report. At this time, it is not possible for the Group to
estimate the future effects of COVID 19 on its operations as any impact will depend on the magnitude and

duration of any economic downturn, with the full range of possible effects unknown.
On the 8th June 2020, Michael Malone and Mark Puzey were appointed as a non-executive directors.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs
of the Group in future financial years.
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